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Charles N, Steele

General Counsel

Federal Election Commission
Washington, D.C. 20463

Re: MUR 1647
Friends of Bob Carr
Dennis M, Ritter
Treasurer

Dear Mr., Steele:

As provided for in the conciliation agreement signed
by the respondent and accepted by the Commissior, the
respondent is making payment of the agreed upon $250
penalty. I would appreciate it if you would forward a
receipt to me.

Thank you for your cooperation in this matter,.

Sincerely,

e
Andrew Athy

AA:aat

Enclosure




BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Friends of Bob Carr
Dennis M. Ritter, Treasurer

)
; MUR 1647
)

CERTIFICATION

I, Marjorie W. Emmons, Secretary of the Federal
Election Commission, do hereby certify that on November 29,
1984, the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take
the following actions in MUR 1647:

1. Accept the conciliation agreement
with Friends of Bob Carr and Dennis M.
Ritter, as treasurer attached to the
General Counsel's Report signed
November 26, 1984.

Approve the letters attached to the
General Counsel's Report signed
November 26, 1984.

3. Close the file.

Commissioners Aikens, Elliott, Harris, McDonald,

McGarry and Reiche voted affirmatively in this matter.

Attest:

gocce Y

Marjorie W. Emmons
Secretary of the Commission

Received in Office of Commission Secretary: 11-27-84, 10:02
Circulated on 48 hour tally basis: 11-27-84, 4:00
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINCTON. D C 20463 °

December 3, 1984

Andrew Athy, Jr., Esquire
O'Neill and Haase

Suite 1110

1333 New Hampshire Avenue, N.W.
washington, D.C. 20036-1586

RE: MUR 1647
Friends of Bob Carr
Dennis M. Ritter, Treasurer

Dear Mr. Athy:

On November 29, 1984, the Commission accepted the
conciliation agreement signed by you in settlement of a violation
of 2 U.S.C. § 44la(f), a provision of the Federal Election
Campaign Act of 1971, as amended. Accordingly, the file has been
closed in this matter, and it will become a part of the public
record within thirty days. However, 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (4) (B)
probihits any information derived in connection with any
conciliation attempt from becoming public without the written
consent of the respondent and the Commission. Should you wish
any such information to become part of the public record, please
advise us in writing.

Enclosed you will find a fully executed copy of the final
conciliation agreement for your files.

Sincerely,

Associate neral Counsel

Enclosure
Conciliation Agreement




"BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
In the Matter of

)
)
Friends of Bob Carr ) MUR 1647
Dennis M. Ritter, Treasurer )

CONCILIATION AGREEMENT

This matter was initiated by a signed, sworn, and notarized

complaint by James E. Antosh. The Commission found reason to
believe that the Friends of Bob Carr and Dennis M. Ritter, as
treasurer, ("Respondents") violated 2 U.S.C. § 44la(f) in 1982 by
accepting contributions which exceeded $5,000 for a single
election.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Commission and Respondents, having
participated in informal methods of conciliation, prior to a
finding of probable cause to believe, do hereby agree as follows:

o8 I. The Commission has jurisdiction over the Respondents,
and the subject matter of this proceeding, and this agreement has
the effect of an agreement entered pursuant to 2 U.S.C.

§ 437g(a) (4) (A) (1).

I1. Respondents has had a reasonable opportunity to
demonstrate that no action should be taken in this matter.

III. Respondents enter voluntarily into this agreement with
the Commission.

IV. The pertinent facts in this matter are as follows:
1. Respondent Friends of Bob Carr was the principal

campaign committee of Robert Carr in 1981-82.

2. Respondent Dennis M. Ritter is the treasurer of the

Friends of Bob Carr.
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3. APL-CIO Committee on Political Education Political

Contributions Committee ("AFL-CIO COPE-PCC") is a separate

segregated fund of a labor organization, the AFL-CIO.

4. The Political Education Fund Building and

Construction Trades Department ("P.E.F.-B.C.T.D."), is the

separate segregated fund of the department of a labor

organization, the AFL-CIO.

5. The Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary Fund is

the separate segregated fund of a local unit of the AFL-CIO.

6. In 1982 the AFL~CIO COPE-PCC made contributions

o
o totalling $3,750 to Friends of Bob Carr for use in the

o general eleétion campaign.

= 3 7. 1In 1982 the P.E.F.-B.C.T.D. made a contribution of
;: $750 to the Friends of Bob Carr for use in the general

;3 election campaign.

T 8. In 1982 the Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary
= Fund made a contribution of $1,250 to the Friends of

L Bob Carr for use in the general election campaign.

(<o)

9. The aggregated contributions made in 1982 by the

AFL-CIO COPE-PCC, the Political Education Fund and the

Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary Fund to the Friends of

Bob Carr for the general election totalled $5,750.

10. 2 U.Ss.C. § 44la(a) (2) (A) limits to $5,000 the

contributions which a multicandidate committee may make to a

candidate for federal office with respect to any election.

11. 2 U.S.C. § 44la(a) (5) provides that all

contributions made by political committees established or
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financed or maintained or controlled by a labor
organization, including any parent, subsidiary, branch,
division, department, or local unit of such labor
%Eganization, are to be considered to have been made by a
single commjittee.
12. 2 U.S.C. § 44l1a(f) prohibits knowing acceptance by
a political committee or an officer of a political committee
of contributions which exceed the limitations established by
2 U.S.C. § 44la(2)(A).
13. AFL-CIO COPE-PCC, the Political Education Fund,
and the Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary Fund in 1982,
as affiliated multicandidate committees, shared a $5,000
- contribution limitagion per recipient with respect to any
election.
V. Although the respondents, Friends of Bob Carr and
Dennis M, Ritter, as Treasurer of the Friends of Bob Carr, admit
receiving a $750 contribution from the Political Education Fund
Building and Construction Trades Depattment (P.E.F.-B.C.T.D.),
they contend that at the time the contribution was received or at
any time up to the receipt by respondent of the complaint MUR
1647, that they had no knowledge that the P.E.F.-B.C.T.D. was,
pursuant to 2 U.S.C. § 44la(a) (5), affiliated with AFL-CIO
COPE-PCC and the Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary Fund }from
which it had already received $5,000) and accordingly respondents
Friends of Bob Carr and Dennis M. Ritter as Treasurer of the

Friends of Bob Carr contend that they were not previously'aware
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that contributions from these three committees would be subject
to the contribution limits of a single committee.

VI. The Respondents have since returned the $750
contribution to the P.E.F.-B.C.T.D.

VII. Respondents Friends of Bob Carr and Dennis M. Ritter
admit that whereas the AFL-CIO COPE-PCC, the Michigan State
AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary PAC, and P.E.F.-B.C.T.D. are affiliated
under 2 U.S.C. § 44la(a) (5) contributions by them which aggregate
in excess of $5,000 when made in connection with a general

election would be contributions in excess of the limitations

established by-2 U.S.C. § 44l1a(2) (a), and thus when received by

the Respondents was a violation of 2 U.S.C. § 44la(f).

-. VIII. Respondents will pay a civil penalty to the Treasurer
of the United States in the amount of Two Hundred and Fifty
($250) Dollars, pursuant to 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (5) (A).

IX. Respondents agree that it shall not undertake any
activity which is in violation of the Federal Election Campaign
Act of 1971, as amended, 2 U.S.C. § 431, et seq.

X. The Commission, on request of anyone filing a
complaint under 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (1) concerning the matters at
issue herein or on its own motion, may review compliance with
this agreement. If the Commission believes that this agreement
or any requirement thereof has been violated, it may institute a
civil action for relief in the United States District Court for

the District of Columbia.




XI. This agreement shall become effective as of the date

that all parties hereto have executed same and the Commission has

+

ipproved the entire agreement.

XII. Respondents shall have no more than thirty (30) days

from the date this agreement becomes effective to comply with and

implement the requirements contained in this agreement and to so

notify the Commission.

XIII. This Conciliation Agreement constitutes the entire

agreement between the parties on the matters raised herein, and

no other statement, promise, or agreement, either written or

oral, made by either party or by agents of either party, that is

not con*ained in this written agreement shall be valid.

FOR THE COMMISSION:

-9 Chétles N..Sfeele
General Cou 1

Associate General Counsel

FOR THE RESPONDENTS:

ristopher R iyl Date
Andrew Athy, Jr.

Attorneys for Respondents

Friends of Bob Carr and

Dennis M. Ritter




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINGTON. D C 20463 °

December 3, 1984

Margaret E. McCormick, Esquire
AFL-CIO

815 Sixteenth Street, N.W.
washington, D.C. 20006.

RE: MUR 1647
AFL-CIO COPE-PCC
Thomas R. Donahue, Treasurer
Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE
Voluntary Fund
Walter Oliver, Treasurer

Dear Ms. McCormick:

This is to advise you that the entire file in this matter
has now been closed and will become part of the public record
within thirty days. Should you wish to submit any legal or
factual materials to be placed on the public record in connection
with this matter, please do so within 10 days.

Should you have any questions, contact George Demougeot the
staff member assigned to this matter, at (202) 523-4000.

Sincerely,

Charle . Steele




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C 20463
December 3, 1984

Robert D. Kurndick, Esquire

Sherman, Dunn, Cohen, Lejifer
& Counts, P.C.

1125 Fifteenth Street, N.W.

Suite 801

washington, D.C. 20005

RE: MUR 1647

Political Education Fund and
Building and Construction
Trades Department

Joseph F. Maloney, Treasurer

Dear Mr. Kurndick:’

This is to advise you that the entire file in this matter
has now been closed and will become part of the public record
within thirty days. Should you wish to submit any legal or
factual materials to be placed on the public record in connection
with this matter, please do so within 10 days.

Should you have any questions, contact George Demougeot, the
staff member assigned to this matter at, (202) 523-4000.

Sincerely,

Associate Gefieral Counsel
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON. D.C. 20463

December 3, 1984

Michael Ernest Avakian, Esquire
Martha M. Poindexter, Esquire
Center on National Labor Policy
Suite 400

5211 Port Royal Road
Springfield, Virginia 22151

RE: MUR 1647

Dear Mr. Avakian and Ms. Poindexter:

This is in reference to the complaint you filed with the
Commission on March 16, 1984, concerning the Friends of Bob Carr
and others.

: The Commission determined there was reason to believe that
the Friends of Bob Carr had violated 2 U.S.C. § 44la(f), and the
AFL-CIO Committee on Political Education and Political
Contributions Committee, the Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE
Voluntary Fund, and the Political Education Fund of the Building
and Construction Trades Department had violated 2 U.S.C.
§ 44la(a) (2) (A), provisions of the Federal Election Campaign Act
of 1971, as amended. On November 29 , 1984, a conciliation
agreement signed by the Friends of Bob Carr was accepted by the
Commission, thereby concluding the matter. Copies of these
agreements are enclqgsed for your information.

The file number of this matter is MUR 1647. If you have any

‘questions, please contact George Demougeot, the staff member
assigned to this matter, at (202) 523-4000.

Sincerely,

Assoclate Zeneral Counsel

Enclosure
Conciliation Agreement




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D C 20463

Andrew Athy, Jr., Esquire
O'Neill and Haase

Suite 1110

1333 New Hampshire Avenue, N.W.
wWashington, D.C. 20036-1586

RE: MUR 1647
Friends of Bob Carr
Dennis M. Ritter, Treasurer

Dear Mr. Athy:

On » 1984, the Commission accepted the
conciliation agreement signed by you in settlement of a violation
of 2 U.S.C. § 44la(f), a provision of the Federal Election
Campaign Act of 1971, as amended. Accordingly, the file has been
closed in this matter, and it will become a part of the public
record within thirty days. However, 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (4) (B)
probihits any information derived in connection with any
conciliation attempt from becoming public without the written
consent of the respondent and the Commission. Should you wish

any such information to become part of the public record, please
advise us in writing.

Enclosed you will find a fully executed copy of the final
conciliation agreement for your files.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

Kenneth A. Gross
Associate General Counsel

[

u/é?? G

Enclosure
Conciliation Agreement




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINCTON, D.C 20463

Margaret E. McCormick, Esquire
AFL-CIO

815 Sixteenth Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20006

RE: MUR 1647
AFL-CIO COPE-PCC
Thomas R. Donahue, Treasurer
Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE
Voluntary Fund
Walter Oliver, Treasurer

Dear Ms. McCormick:

This is to advise you that the entire file in this matter
has now been closed and will become part of the public record
within thirty days. Should you wish to submit any legal or
factual materials to be placed on the public record in connection
with this matter, please do so within 10 days.

Should you have any questions, contact George Demougeot the
staff member assigned to this matter, at (202) 523-4000.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

Kenneth A. Gross
Associate General Counsel




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
W ASHINCTON, D C 20463

Robert D. Kurndick, Esquire

Sherman, Dunn, Cohen, Leifer
& Counts, P.C.

1125 Fifteenth Street, N.W.

Suite 801

washington, D.C. 20005

RE: MUR 1647

Political Education Fund and
Building and Construction
Trades Department

Joseph F. Maloney, Treasurer

Dear Mr. Kurndick:

This is to advise you that the entire file in this matter
has now been closed and will become part of the public record
within thirty days. Should you wish to submit any legal or
factual materials to be placed on the public record in connectzon
with this matter, please do so within 10 days.

Should you have any questions, contact George Demougeot, the
staff member assigned to this matter at, (202) 523-4000.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

Kenneth A. Gross
Associate General Counsel




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D C. 20463

Michael Ernest Avakian, Esquire
Martha M. Poindexter, Esquire
Center on National Labor Policy
Suite 400

5211 Port Royal Road
Springfield, Virginia 22151

RE:
Dear Mr. Avakian and Ms. Poindexter:

This is in reference to the complaint you filed with the

Commission on March 16, 1984, concerning the Friends of Bob Carr
and others. .

The Commission determined there was reason to believe that
the Friends of Bob Carr had violated 2 U.S.C. § 44la(f), and the
AFL-CIO Committee on Political Education and Political
Contributions Committee, the Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE
Voluntary Fund, and the Political Education Fund of the Building
and Construction Trades Department had violated 2 U.S.C.

§ 44la(a) (2) (A), provisions of the Federal Election Campaign Act
of 1971, as amended. On , 1984, a conciliation
agreement signed by the Friends of Bob Carr was accepted by the
Commission, thereby concluding the matter. Copies of these
agreements are enclosed for your information.

The file number of this matter is MUR 1647. If you have any
guestions, please contact George Demongeot, the staff member
assigned to this matter, at (202) 523-4000.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

Kenneth A. Gross
Associate General Counsel

Enclosure

Conciliation Agreement @
_/// 285 4




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

Office of the Commission Secretary
FROM: Office of General Counsel

DATE: November 27, 1984

SUBJECT: _MUR 1647_- General Counsel's Report

The attached is submitted as an Agenda document

for the Commission Meeting of

Open Session

Closed Session

CIRCULATIONS DISTRIBUTION

48 Hour Tally Vote Compliance
Sensitive
Non-Sensitive Audit Matters

24 Hour No Objection Litigation
Sensitive

Non-Sensitive Closed MUR Letters

Information Status Sheets
Sensitive

Non-Sensitive Advisory Opinions

: Other (see distribution
Other _ below)




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 -

October 1, 1984

Margaret E. McCormick, Esquire
AFL-CIO

815 Sixteenth Street, N.W.
washington, D.C. 20006

Re: MUR 1647
AFL-CIO COPE-PCC
Thomas R. Donahue, Treasurer
Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE
Voluntary Fund
Walter Oliver; Treasurer

Dear Ms. McCormick:

On September 26,1984, the Commission accepted the conciliation
agreements signed by you in settlement of a violation of 2 U.S.C.
§ 44la(a)(2) (A), a provision of the Federal Election Campaign Act
of 1971, as amended. Accordingly, the file has been closed in
this matter as it pertains to your clients, and it will become a
part of the public record within thirty days after this matter
has been closed with respect to all other respondents involved.
However, 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (4) (B) prohibits any information
derived in connection with any conciliation attempt from becoming
public without the written consent of the respondent and the
Commission. Should you wish any such information to become part
of the public record, please advise us in writing within 10 days.

The Commission reminds you that the confidentiality
provisions of 2 U.S.C. §§ 437g(a) (4) (B) and 437g(a) (12) (A) remain
in effect until the entire matter has been closed. The
Commission will notify you when the entire file has been closed.

Enclosed you will find a fully executed copy of the final
conciliation agreement for your files.

Sincerely,

N. Steele

Enclosure
Conciliation Agreements




BQRB THE FEDERAL ELECTION (&ISBION
In the Matter of

)

; )

AFL-CIO Committee on Political ) MUR 1647

Education Political Contributions)

Committee )
)

Thomas R. Donahue, as treasurer

CONCILIATION AGREEMENT

This matter was initiated by a signed, sworn, and notarized

complaint by James E. Antosh. The Commission found reason Eé

believe that the AFL-CIO Committee on Political Education R
Political Contributions Committee ("AFL-CIO COPE-PCC") and
Thomas R. Donahue as treasurer of the AFL-CIO COPE-PCC
("Respondents™) violated 2 U.S.C. § 44la(a) (2) (A) by making
contributions to the Friends of Bob Carr which, when aggregated
with contributions to the same committee by committees affiliated
with Respondent AFL-CIO COPE-PCC, exceeded $5,000 for a single
election.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Commission and Respondents, having
participated in informal methods of conciliation, prior to a
finding of probable cause to believe, do hereby agree as follows:

I. The Commission has jurisdiction over the Respondents,
and the subject matter of this proceeding, and this agreement has
the effect of an agreement entered pursuant to 2 U.S.C.

§ 437g(a) (4) (A) (1).

II. Respondents have had a reasonable opportunity to
demonstrate that no action should be taken in this matter.

III. Respondents enter voluntarily into this agreement with
the Commission.

IV. The pertinent facts in this matter are as follows:

1. Respondent AFL-CIO COPE-PCC is a separate

segregated fund of a labor organization, the AFL-CIO.
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2. Respondent Thomas R. Donahue is the treasurer of the AFL-CIO
COPE-PCC.,

3. The Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary Fund is the
separate segregated fund of a local unit of the AFL-CIO.

4. The Political Education Fund of the Building and Construction
Trades Department ("P.E.F.-B.C.T.D.") is the separate segregated fund of a
department of the AFL-CIO,

5. In1982 Respondent AFL-CIO COPE-PCC made contributions of
$3,750 to Friends of Bob Carr for use in the general election campaign.

6. In 1982 the Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary Fund made a
contribution of $1,250 to Friends of Bob Carr for use in the general election
campaign.

7. In1982 the P.E.F.-B.C.T.D. made a contribution of $750 to the
Friends of Bob Carr for use in the general election campaign.

8.  The aggregated contributions made in 1982 by the AFL-CIO
COPE-PCC, the Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary Fund, and the
P.E.F.-B.C.T.D. to the Friends of Bob Carr for the general election totalled
$5,750.

9. 2 U.S.C. § 44la(a)(2XA) limits to $5,000 the contributions which a
multicandidate committee may make to a candidate for federal office with
respect to any election.

10. 2 U.S.C. § 44la(a)(5) provides that all contributions made by the
political committees established or financed or maintained or controlled by a
labor organization, including any parent, subsidiary, branch, division,

department, or local unit of such labor organization, are to be considered to

have been made by a single committee.



1. As affiliated multicandidate committees, the AFL-CIO COPE-
CC, the Michigen State AFL-CIO Voluntary Fund, and the P.E.F.-B.C.T.D.

1982 shared a $5,000 contribution limitation with respect to any election.

. By making contributions in 1982 to the Friends of Bob Carr for the
| election which, when aggregated with contributions to the same committee
P.E.F.-B.C.T.D., and the Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary Fund,
$5,750, the AFL-CIO COPE-PCC and Thomas R. Donahue as treasurer of

. ~-CIO COPE-PCC, violated 2 U.S.C. § 44la(a)(2XA).

. The AFL-CIO COPE-PCC, the P.E.F.-B.C.T.D., and the Michigan State
O COPE Voluntary Fund will pay in the aggregate a civil penalty of Two
and Fifty Dollars ($250.00) to the Treasurer of the United States, pursuant
S5.C. § 437g(aX5XA).
'I. Respondents agree that they shall not undertake any activity which is in

on of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, 2 U.S.C. § 431,

M. The Commission, on request of anyone filing a complaint under 2 U.S.C.
(a)1) concerning the matters at issue herein or on its own motion, may

compliance with this agreement. If the Commission believes that this

bent or any requirement thereof has been violated, it may institute a civil

for relief in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia.




ll. As affiliated multicandidate committees, the AFL-CIO COPE-

PCC, the Michigan State AFL~-CIO Voluntary Fund, and the P.E.F.-B.C.T.D.

in 1982 shared a $5,000 contribution limitation with respect to any election.

Y. By making contributions in 1982 to the Friends of Bob Carr for the
general election which, when aggregated with contributions to the same committee
by the P.E.F.-B.C.T.D., and the Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary Fund,
totalied $5,750, the AFL-CIO COPE-PCC and Thomas R. Donahue as treasurer of
the AFL-CIO COPE~PCC, violated 2 U.S.C. § 44la(a)(2XA).

VI. The AFL-CIO COPE-PCC, the P.E.F.-B.C.T.D., and the Michigan State

‘AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary Fund will pay in the aggregate a civil penalty of Two
Hundred and Fifty Dollars ($250.00) to the Treasurer of the United States, pursuant
to 2 U.S.C. § 437g(aX5XA).

VII. Respondents agree that they shall not undertake any activity which is in
violation of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, 2 U.S.C. § 43],
et seq.

VIII. The Commission, on request of anyone filing a complaint under 2 U.S.C.
§ 437g(a)(1) concerning the matters at issue herein or on its own motion, may
review compliance with this agreement. If the Commission believes that this
agreement or any requirement thereof has been violated, it may institute a civil

action for relief in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia.
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IX. This agreement shall become effective as of the date
that all parties hereto have executed same and the Commission has
approved the entire agreement.

X. Respondents shall have no more than thirty (30) days
from the date this agreement becomes effective to comply with and
implement the requirements contained in this agreement and to so
notify the Commission.

XI. This Conciliation Agreement constitutes the entire
agreement between the parties on the matters raised herein, and

no other statement, promise, or agreement, either written or

oral, made by either party or by agents of either party, that is

not contained in this written agreement shall be valid.
FOR THE COMMISSION:

Charles N. Steele
General Cou 1l

nneth A, Gross
Associate Genera) Counsel

FOR THE RESPONDENTS:
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-a..z THE FEDERAL ELECTION .us\s:ou
In the Matter of N

COPE Voluntary Fund

Walter L. Oliver, Treasurer

)
)
Michigan State AFL-CIO )
; MUR 1647

e PR: 19

CONCILIATION AGREEMENT

This matter was initiated by a signed, sworn, and notarized
complaint by James E. Antosh. The Commission found reason to
believe that the Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary Fund and
Walter L. Oliver, as treasurer ("Respondents") violated 2 U.S.C.
§ 44la(a) (2) (A) by making contributions to the Friends of |
Bob Carr which, when aggregated with contributions to the same
committee by committees affiliated with Respondent Michigan State
AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary Fund, exceeded $5,000 for a single
election.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Commission and Respondents, having
participated in informal methods of conciliation, prior to a
finding of probable cause to believe, do hereby agree as follows:

I. The Commission has jurisdictién over the Respondents,
and the subject matter of this proceeding, and this agreement has
the effect of an agreement entered pursuant to 2 U.S.C.

§ 437g(a) (4) (A) (1).

II. Respondents have had a reasonable opportunity to

demonstrate that no action should be taken in this matter.

‘III. Respondents enter voluntarily into this agreement with

the Commission.
IV. The pertinent facts in this matter are as follows:
1. Respondent Michigan State AFL-CIO CNPE Voluntary

Fund is a separate segregated fund of a local unit of the

AFL-CIO.




2.  Respondent Walter L. Oliver is the treasurer of the Michigan
State AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary Fund.

3. The Political Education Fund of the Building and Construction
Trades Department ("P.E.F.-B.C.T.D.") is the separate segregated fund of a
department of the AFL-CIO.

4. The AFL-CIO Committee on Political Education Political
Contributions Committee ("TAFL-CIO COPE-PCC") is a separate segregated
fund of the AFL-CIO.

5. In 1982 Respondent Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary
Fund made a contribution of $1,250 to the Friends of Bob Carr for use in the
general election campaign.

6. In1982 the P.E.F.-B.C.T.D. made a contribution of $750 to the
Friends of Bob Carr for use in the general election campaign.

7. In 1982 the AFL-CIO COPE-PCC made contributions of $3,750 to
the Friends of Bob Carr for use in the general election campaign.

8. The aggregated contributions made in 1982 by the AFL-CIO
COPE-PCC, the Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary Fund, and the
P.E.F.-B.C.T.D. to the Friends of Bob Carr for the general election totalled
$5,750.

9. 2 US.C. S 441a(a)2XA) limits to $5,000 the contributions which a
multicandidate committee may make to a candidate for federal office with

respect to any election.




10. 2 U.S.C. § 44la(a)5) provides that all econtributions made by the
political committees established or financed or maintained or controlled by a
labor organization, including any parent, subsidiary, branch, division,
department, or local unit of such labor organization, are to be considered to
have been made by a single committee.

1. As affiliated multicandidate committees, the AFL-CIO COPE-
PCC, the Michigan State AFL-CIO Voluntary Fund, and the P.E.F.-B.C.T.D.
in 1982 shared a $5,000 contribution limitation with respect to any election.
V. By making contributions in 1982 to the Friends of Bob Carr for the

general election which, when aggregated with contributions to the same committee

by the AFL-CIO COPE-PCC and the P.E.F.-B.C.T.D., totalled $5,750, the Michigan

State AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary Fund, and Walter L. Oliver as treasurer of the
Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary Fund, violated 2 U.S.C. § 44la(a)(2XA).

VL. The AFL-CIO COPE-PCC, the P.E.F.-B.C.T.D., and the Michigan State
AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary Fund will pay in the aggregate a civil penalty of Two
Hundred and Fifty Dollars ($250.00) to the Treasurer of the United States, pursuant
to 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a}SXA).

VI. Respondents agree that they shall not undertake any activity which is in
violation of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, 2 U.S.C. § 43I,
et seq.

VII. The Commission, on request of anyone filing a complaint under 2 U.S.C.

§ 437g(a)(1) concerning the matters at
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issue herein or on its own motion, may review compliance with
this agreement. If the Commission believes that this agreement
or any requirement thereof has been violated, it may institute a
civil action for relief in the United States District Court for
the District of Columbia.

IX. This agreement shall become effective as of the date
that all parties hereto have executed same and the Commission has
approved the entire agreement.

X. Respondents shall have no more than thirty (30) days
from the date this agreement becomes effective to comply with and
implement the requirements contained in this agreement and to so
notify the Commission.

XI. This Conciliation Agreement constitutes the entire
agreement between the parties on the matters raised herein, and
no other statement, promise, or agreement, either written or
oral, made by either party or by agents of either party, that is
not contained in this written agreement shall be valid.

FOR THE COMMISSION:

Charles N. Steele
General Counse\l:

FOR THE RESPONDENTS:
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

October 1, 1984

Robert D. Kurndick, Esquire

Sherman, Dunn, Cohen, Leifer & Counts, P.C.
1125 Fifteenth Street, N.W., Suite 801
washington, D.C. 20005

RE: MUR 1647

Political Education Fund and
Building and Construction
Trades Department

Joseph F. Maloney, Treasurer

Dear Mr. Kurndick;

On September 26,1984, the Commission accepted the conciliation
agreement signed by you in settlement of a violation of 2 U.S.C.
§ 44la(a) (2) (A), a provision of the Federal Election Campaign Act
of 1971, as amended. Accordingly, the file has been closed in
this matter as it pertains to your clients, and it will become a
part of the public record within thirty days after this matter
has been closed with respect to all other respondents involved.
However, 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (4) (B) prohibits any information
derived in connection with any conciliation attempt from becoming
public without the written consent of the respondent and the
Commission. Should you wish any such information to become part
of the public record, please advise us in writing within 10 days.

The Commission reminds you that the confidentiality
provisions of 2 U.S.C. §§ 437g(a) (4) (B) and 437g(a) (12) (A) remain
in effect until the entire matter has been closed. The
Commission will notify you when the entire file has been closed.

Enclosed you will find a fully executed copy of the final
conciliation agreement for your files.

Sincerely,

By./ ennet.: A,
Associlate

Enclosure
Conciliation Agreement




BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
In the Matter of
Political Education Fund
of the Building and MUR 1647
Construction Trades
Department
Joseph F. Maloney, Treasurer )
CONCILIATION AGREEMENT
This matter was initiated by a signed, sworn, and notarized
complaint by James E. Antosh. The Commission found reason to
believe that the Political Education Fund of the Building and
Construction Trades Department ("P.E.F.-B.C.T.D.") and
Joseph F. Maloney as treasurer ("Respondents") violated 2 U.S.C.

§ 44la(a) (2) (A) by making contributions to the Friends of

Bob Carr which, when aggregated with contributions to the same

committee by committees affiliated with Respondent
P.E.F.-B.C.T.D., exceeded $5,000 for a single election.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Commission and Respondents, having
participated in informal methods of conciliation, prior to a
finding of probable cause to believe, do hereby agree as follows:

I. The Commission has jurisdiction over the Respondents,
and the subject matter of this proceeding, and this agreement has
the effect of an agreement entered pursuant to 2 U.S.C.

§ 437g(a) (4) (A) (i).

II. Respondents has had a reasonable opportunity to
demonstrate that no action should be taken in this matter.

III. Respondents enter voluntarily into this agreement with

the Commission.
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IV. The pertinent facts in this matter are as follows:

1. Respondent P.E.F.-B.C.T.D. is the separate
segregated fund of the department of a labor organization,
the AFL-CIO.

2. Respondent Joseph F. Maloney is the treasurer of
the P.E.F.-B.C.T.D.

3. Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary Fund is a
separate segregated fund of a local unit of the AFL-CIO.

4. AFL-CIO Committee on Political Education Political
Contributions Committee ("AFL-CIO COPE-PCC") is a separate
segregated fund of the AFL-CIO,

5. In 1982 Respondent P.E.F.-B.C.T.D. made a
contribution of $750 to the Friends of Bob Carr for use in
the general election campaign.

6. In 1982 the Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary
Fund made a contribution of $1,250 to Friends of Bob Carr
for use in the general election campaign.

7. In 1982 the AFL-CIO COPE-PCC made contributions
totalling $3,750 to the Friends of Bob Carr for use in the
general election campaign.

8. The aggregated contributions made in 1982 by the
AFL-CIO COPE-PCC, the Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary
Fund, and the P.E.F.-B.C.T.D. to the Friends of Bob Carr for
the general election totalled $5,750.

9. 2 U.S.C. § 44l1la(a) (2) (A) limits to $5,000 the

contributions which a multicandidate committee may make to a
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candidate for federal office with respect to any election.

10. 2 U.S.C. § 44la(a) (5) provides that all
contributions made by political committees established or
financed or maintained or controlled by a labor organization,
including any parent, subsidiary, branch, division, department,
or local unit of such labor organization, are to be considered to
have been made by a single committee.

11. As affiliated multicandidate committees, the AFL-
CIO COPE PCC, the Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary Fund, and
the P.E.F.-B.C.T.D. in 1982 shared a $5,000 contribution
limitation.

V. By making contributions in 1982 to the Friends of Bob
Carr for the general election which, when aggregated with
contributions to the same committee by the AFL-CIO COPE-PCC and
the Michigan Stage AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary Fund, totalled $5,750,
the P.E.F.-B.C.T.D., and Joseph F. Maloney as treasurer of the
P.E.F.-B.C.T.D., violated 2 U.S.C. § 44la(a)(2)(A).

Vi. The AFL-CIO COPE-PCC, the P.E.F.-B.C.T.D., and the
Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary Fund will pay in the
aggregate a civil penalty of Two Hundred and Fifty Dollars
($250.00) to the Treasurer of the United States, pursuant to 2
U.S.C. § 437g(a) (5) (A).

VII. Respondents agree that they shall not undertake any
activity which is in violation of the Federal Election Campaign
Act of 1971, as amended, 2 U.S.C. § 431, et seq.
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VIII. The Commission, on request of anyone filing a
complaint under 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (1) concerning the matters at
issue herein or on its own motion, may review compliance with
this agreement. If the Commission believes that this agreement
or any requirement thereof has been violated, it may institute a
civil action for relief in the United States District Court for
the District of Columbia.

IX. This agreement shall become effective as of the date
that all parties hereto have executed same and the Commission has
approved the entire agreement.

X. Respondents shall have no more than thirty (30) days
from the date this agreement becomes effective to comply with and
implement the requirements contained in this agreement and to so
notify the Commission.

XI. This Conciliation Agreement constitutes the entire
agreement between the parties on the matters raised herein, and
no other statement, promise, or agreement, either written or
oral, made by either party or by agents of either party, that is
not contained in this written agreement shall be valid.

FOR THE COMMISSION:

Charles N,
General C

neth A. Gross
Associate General Cofinsel

FOR THE RESPONDENTS:

At D i il o/r /by

Date
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

Margaret E. McCormick, Esquire
AFL-CIO

815 Sixteenth Street, N.W.
wWashington, D.C. 20006

Re: MUR 1647
AFL-CIO COPE-PCC
Thomas R. Donahue, Treasurer
Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE
Voluntary Fund
Walter Oliver; Treasurer

Dear Ms. McCormick:

On September 26,1984, the Commission accepted the conciliation
agreements signed by you in settlement of a violation of 2 U.S.C.
§ 44la(a)(2)(A), a provision of the Federal Election Campaign Act
of 1971, as amended. Accordingly, the file has been closed in
this matter as it pertains to your clients, and it will become a
part of the public record within thirty days after this matter
has been closed with respect to all other respondents involved.
However, 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (4) (B) prohibits any information
derived in connection with any conciliation attempt from becoming
public without the written consent of the respondent and the
Commission. Should you wish any such information to become part
of the public record, please advise us in writing within 10 days.

The Commission reminds you that the confidentiality
provisions of 2 U.S.C. §§ 437g(a) (4) (B) and 437g(a) (12) (A) remain
in effect until the entire matter has been closed. The
Commission will notify you when the entire file has been closed.

Enclosed you will find a fully executed copy of the final
conciliation agreement for your files.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

By: Kenneth A. Gross
Associate General Counsel

Enclosure
Conciliation Agreements
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

Robert D. Kurndick, Esquire

Sherman, Dunn, Cohen, Leifer & Counts, P.C.
1125 Fifteenth Street, N.W., Suite 801
Washington, D.C. 20005

RE: MUR 1647

Political Education Fund and
Building and Construction
Trades Department

Joseph F. Maloney, Treasurer

Dear Mr. Kurndick:

On September 26,1984, the Commission accepted the conciliation
agreement signed by you in settlement of a violation of 2 U.S.C.
§ 44la(a)(2) (A), a provision of the Federal Election Campaign Act
of 1971, as amended. Accordingly, the file has been closed in
this matter as it pertains to your clients, and it will become a
part of the public record within thirty days after this matter
has been closed with respect to all other respondents involved.
However, 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (4) (B) prohibits any information
derived in connection with any conciliation attempt from becoming
public without the written consent of the respondent and the
Commission., Should you wish any such information to become part
of the public record, please advise us in writing within 10 days.

The Commission reminds you that the confidentiality
provisions of 2 U.S.C. §§ 437g(a) (4) (B) and 437g(a) (12) (A) remain
in effect until the entire matter has been closed. The
Commission will notify you when the entire file has been closed.

Enclosed you will find a fully executed copy of the final
conciliation agreement for your files.

Sincerely,

Charles N, Steele
General Counsel

By: Kenneth A. Gross
Associate General Counsel

Enclosure _ q /27/5"/?

Conciliation Agreement
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

Office of the Commission Secretary

Office of General Counsel (t}j(
DATE: September 24, 1984

SUBJECT: MUR 1647 - General Counsel's_Report

The attached is submitted as an Agenda document

for the Commission' Meeting of

Open Session

Closed Session

CIRCULATIONS DISTRIBUTION

48 Hour Tally Vote Compliance
Sensitive
Non-Sensitive Audit Matters

24 Hour No Objection Litigation
Sensitive
Non-Sensitive Closed MUR Letters

Information Status Sheets
Sensitive

Non-Sensitive Advisory Opinions

Other (see distribution
Other below)




BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of
MUR 1647

e’

Robert M. Carr, et. al. )

CERTIFICATION

I, Marjorie W. Emmons, Secretary of the Federal

Election Commission, do hereby certify that on June 13,

1984, the Commission decided by a vote of 4-0 to take

the following actions in MUR 1647:

1. Find reason to believe that the
AFL-CIO Committee on Political
¢ Education and Political Contributions
Committee and its treasurer,
Thomas R. Donahue, violated 2 U.S.C.
§ 44la(a) (2) (A).

Find reason to believe that the
Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE

TE Voluntary Fund and its treasurer,

Walter L. Oliver, violated 2 U.S.C.

§ 44la(a) (2) (A).

Find reason to believe that the
N Political Education Fund of the
Building and Construction Trades
; Department and its treasurer,

i 1, Joseph F. Maloney, violated

' 2 U.S.C. § 44la(a)(2) (r).

Find reason to believe that the
Friends of Bob Carr and its
treasurer, Dennis M. Ritter,
violated 2 U.S.C. § 44la(f).

I Approve the requests for the AFL-CIO
E, COPE-PCC, the Michigan State AFL-CIO
; COPE Voluntary Fund, the Political
Education Fund of the Building and
Construction Trades Department, and
the Friends of Bob Carr to enter into
pre-probable cause conciliation.

{Continued)



MUR 1647

Certification

First General Counsel's Report
Signed June 8, 1984

Approve the letters and proposed
conciliation agreements attached
to the First General Counsel's
Report signed June 8, 1984.

Commissioners Aikens, Elliott, Harris and Reiche
voted affirmatively in this matter; Commissioners

McDonald and McGarry did not cast a vote.

Attest:

et l— : )

Marjorie W. Emmons
Secretary of the Commission

Received in Office of Commission Secretary: 6-8-84, 3:49
Circulated on 48 hour tally basis: 6-11-84, 11:00




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

Office of the Commission Secretary
FROM: Office of General Counsel
DATE: June 8, 1984

SUBJECT: MUR 1647 - First General Counsel's Report

The attached is submitted as an Agenda document

for the Commission Meeting of

Open Session

Closed Session

CIRCULATIONS DISTRIBUTION

48 Hour Tally Vote
Sensitive
Non-Sensitive

Compliance
Audit Matters
24 Hour No Objection

Sensitive
Non-Sensitive

Litigation
Closed MUR Letters
Information

Sensitive
Non-Sengsitive

Status Sheets

St Sl G St Sl el Sl Sl e

Advisory Opinions

Other (see distribution
Other below)
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FIRST GENERAL COUNSEL'S Repor JUN 8 P3: 48

DATE AND TIME OF TRANSMITTAL . _  MUR # 1647

BY OGC TO THE COMMISSION (,/%/8% - 3'S0 DATE COMPLAINT RECEIVED
BY OGC____ 84
DATE OF NOTIFICATION TO
RESPONDENT __ 3/20/84

STAFF MEMBER
GEORGE DEMOUGEOT

COMPLAINANT NAME: James Edward Antosh

RESPONDENTS' NAME: Robert M. Carr

Friends of Bob Carr and its
treasurers, Dennis M. Ritter and
John D. Pirch :

AFL-CIO Committee on Political
Education and Political Contributions
Committee and its treasurer, Thomas R.
Donahue

Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary
Fund and its treasurer, Walter L. Oliver

Political Education Fund of the Building and
Construction Trades Department and its
treasurer, Joseph F. Maloney

RELEVANT STATUTE: 2 U.S.C. § 441a(a) (2) (A)
2 U.S.C. § 441a(f)
11 C.F.R. § 104.14(4)
INTERNAL REPORTS CHECKED: None
FEDERAL AGENCIES CHECKED: None
SUMMARY OF ALLEGATIONS
Complainant, James Edward Antosh, alleges that the American
Federation of Labor-Congress of Industrial Organizations
Committee on Political Education and Political Contributions
Committee ("AFL-CIO COPE-PCC"), the Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE
Voluntary Fund, and Political Educational Fund of the Building
and Construction Trades Department ("P.E.F.-B.C.T.D.") violated 2
U.S.C. § 441a(a) (2) (A) by making excessive contributions to the

Friends of Bob Carr during the 1982 general election.




Complainant alleges that Congressman Robert M, Carr, the
Friends of Pob Carr and its treasurers violated 2 U,S.C.
§ 44la(f) for receipt of contributions in excess of limitations
at 2 U.S.C. § 44la(a)(2) (A) from the above-named committees.
According to the complaint the Friends of Bob Carr received
the following contributions for the 1982 general election
totalling $750 in excess of limitations at 2 U.S.C.
§ 44la(a) (2) (A):

Date
Received Amount Contributor

8/23/82 $ 250 AFL-CIO COPE-PCC
10/1/82 $1,000 AFL-CIO COPE-PCC
10/13/82 $2,500 AFL-CIO COPE-PCC
10/13/82 $1,250 Michigan State
AFL-CIO COPE
Voluntary Fund
10/25/82 $ 1750 P.E.F.-B.C.T.D.
Total = $5,750
FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS
Pursuant to 2 U.S.C. § 44la(a) (2) (A), no multicandidate
political committee shall make any contribution to any candidate
and his authorized political committees with respect to any
election for federal office which, in the aggregate, exceed
$5,000. In addition, pursuant to 2 U.S.C. § 44la(f), no
candidate or political committee shall knowingly accept or make
any expenditure in violation of the $5,000 aggregate limitation
imposed on contributions under this section.

In their response to notification, the AFL-CIO COPE-PCC, the

Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary Fund, and the
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P.E.F.-B.C.T.D. acknowledge that they contributed $750 in excess
of statutory limits. 1In addition, the Friends of Bob Carr
acknowledge the receipt of the $750 contribution in excess of
statutory limits. While the violations are apparent, the
responses indicate that the violations were due to administrative
oversights, Counsel for the political action committees and
counsel for the Friends of Bob Carr note that upon learning of
the excessive contribution, the Friends of Bob Carr voluntarily

returned the $750 contribution.

Accordingly; this office recommends that the Commission find
reason to believe that the AFL-CIO COPE-PCC, the Michigan State
AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary Fund, and P.E.F.-B.C.T.D. violated 2
U.5.C. § 44la(a) (2) (A) and that the Friends of Bob Carr violated

20 ULSACL S ad T ai(iE)ie

RECOMIENDATION

l. Find reason to believe that the AFL-CIO Committee on
Political Education and Political Contributions Committee and its
treasurer, Thomas R. Donahue, violated 2 U.S.C. § 441la(a) (2) (A).

2. Find reason to believe that the Michigan State AFL-CIO
COFE Voluntary Fund and ité treasurer, Walter L. Oliver, violated
ZOAESSTE S G A RRal fa ) (29 (AN

3. Find reason to believe'that the Political Ecducation Tund
of the Building and Construction Trades Department and its

treasurer, Joseph F. Maloney, violated 2 U.S.C. § 44la{a) (2) (Aa).
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4. Find reason to believe that the Friends of Bob Carr and

its treasurer, Dennis M, Ritter, violated 2 U.S.C, § 44la(f).

5.

Approve the attached letters

Charles N, Steela

Centréng?i?sel

//___}‘ A.(..:CA.,__LC_/‘ /"" é..
By: K=Aneth A. Gross J/
Associate Ceneral Counsel

Li:tachments

R RO ECE G ANIe Bt eh-a {500
Response from AFL-CIO COPE-PCC, Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE
Volutary Fund, P.E.F.~-B.C.T.D.
Response from Friends of Bob Carr
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April 3, 1984 ) [%je 2/

Charles N, Steele

Genéral Counsel

Federal Election Commission
1325 K Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20463

Re: FEC MUR 1647
Dear Mr. Steele:

This letter constitutes the response of Thomas R. Donahue, the AFL-CIO
Committee on Political Education Political Contributions Committee ("COPE-
PCC"), Walter Oliver, the Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary Fund
("Michigan COPE"), Joseph F. Maloney, and the Political Educational Fund of the
Building and Construction Trades Department ("PEF-BCTD") (hereinafter
"respondents”) to your letter dated March 20, 1984, stating that the Commission has
received a complaint ealleging that respondents may have violated the Federal
Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended ("the Act").

The complaint, which the Commission has numbered MUR 1647, alleges that
respondent political committees and their treasurers violated $44la(a)(2XA) of the
Act by making contributions which in the aggregate totalled $5,750.00 to the
Friends of Bob Carr committee for the 1982 general election.

Respondents' 1982 contubutlon records reflect the following contributions to
the Priends of Bob- Carr committee for the 1982 general election: COPE-PCC
contributed $250 on 7/28/82; COPE-PCC contributed $1000 on 9/14/82; Michigan
COPE contributed $1,250 on 10/1/82; COPE-PCC contributed $2,500 on 10/5/82; and
PEF-BCTD contnbuted $750 on 10/14/82.

Respondents acknowledge that they inadvertently contributed $750 more than
the maximum contribution permitted by S441a(a)}{2)(A) to the 1982 general election
campaign of Congressman Bob Carr. However, because of the mitigating
circumstances described below, respondents respectfully request that the
Commission take no further action in this matter.




1.  Repondents' violation of 2 U.S.C. §441a(a)(2)(A) was totally inadvertent.
This fact is demonstrated by the circumstances surrounding the making of the
excess contribution: On 7,28/82 and 9/14/82 COPE-PCC contributed $250 and
$1000 respectively for the general election to the Friends of Bob Carr committee.
Each of those contributions was logged as a contribution for the general election in
COPE-PCC's internal contribution records under the name of candidate.
Thereafter on October 1, 1982 the Michigan COPE contributed $1,250 for the
general election to the Carr campaign. Due to an administrative oversight,
however, that contribution was neither cleared with nor reported to COPE-PCC.
Neither COPE-PCC nor the PEF-BCTD had any knowledge of the contribution
made by Michigan COPE, when those committees made additional contributions in
the alount of $2,500 and $750 respectively to the Friends of Bob Carr committee
for the general election. Thus the committees acted under the mistaken but good
faith belief that only $1,250 had been previously contributed for the general
election and that therefore their additional contributions totalling $3,250 meant
the total amount contributed for the general election was $4,500, $500 below the
$5,000 limit of 2 U.S.C. S44la(a)}2XA).

2. The AFL-CIO COPE has used best efforts to ensure that contributions

made by affiliated federal political committees sponsored by AFL-CIO state and

w local bodies do not exceed the statutory limits of the FECA. AFL~CIO state and
< local bodies have repeatedly been told that federal committees sponsored by those
organizations share a single contribution limit with COPE-PCC and that each

o committee must therefore check with COPE-PCC before making any contribution
to a federal candidate. (See, for example, the attached memorandum from John
o Perkins to all AFL-CIO state and local central bodies, directly affiliated local
unions and departments, Attachment A.)

LN 3. The AFL-CIO has already taken action to guarantee that inadvertent
violations of the Act's contribution limits will not occur in. the future. On February
o 25, 1983, months before this matter was brought to respondents' attention, the
< AFL-CIO Executive Council, recognizing the risk that contributions made by
federal political committees sponsored by state and local central bodies of the
c AFL-CIO could iead to violations of the Act's contribution limits despite the best

efforts to avoid such inadvertent violations, adopted a resolution (see Attachment
tn B) stating:

L That no DALU (directly affiliated local union), AFL-CIO state or
local central body, or AFL-CIO Department state or local body,
shall establish or maintain a separate segregated fund that makes
contributions to or expenditures on behalf of candidates for
federal office; - C

That existing federal political committees of the DALUs and of
the state and local bodies of the AFL-CIO and of its Departments
shall terminate their registration with the FEC**#;

3. That henceforth all contributions to or expenditures on behalf of
federal candidates attributable to the AFL~CIO shall be made at
the national level.
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The toxt ‘of the Council's February 25, 1983 resolution has been communicated’
to every AFL-CIO state and local body which sponsors a federal political
committee. The Michigan State AFL-CIO COPE Voluntary Fund and many other .
AFL-CIO state and local bodies have already terminated their committees. Those
committees which have not yet terminated are in the process of doing so at this
time.

As a result of the Executive Council's resolution, the number of AFL-CIO
sponsored separate segregated funds will soon be reduced to three — COPE-PCC
and the two committees sponsored by AFL~CIO Departments, PEF-BCTD and the
Industrial Union Department AFL~-CIO Voluntary Fund. These committees already
operate under a closely monitored system designed to preclude contribution
limitation violations. The risk that contributions made by these committees will
exceed the contribution limits of the Act is therefore minimal.

4. Until they were notified of the complaint in this matter, .respondents
had no knowledge that they had inadvertently contributed $750.00 in excess of the
Act'? contribution limits to Congressman Bob Carr's 1982 general election
campaign. As soon as respondents confirmed, based on their 1982 contribution
records, that such an excess contribution had in fact been made, respondents
requested a refund of that contribution. The Friends of Bob Carr committee
refunded the entire $750 on April 4, 1984. A copy of the refund check is attached
hereto. (See Attachment C).

In light of the inadvertent nature of respondents' violation, respondents’
previous best efforts to avoid the occurence of such violations, the negligible risk
that similar violations will occur in the future in view of the elimination of state
and local affiliated committees, and respondents' voluntary efforts to comply with
the Act by seeking a refund of their excess contribution, respondents believe that
the Commission should take no further action in connection with this matter.

Should the Commission decide to proceed further, respondents respectfully
request that this matter be handled through voluntary informal coneciliation at this
stage in the Commission's proceedings.

Sincerely,

MW S. MCovmice
Margaret E. McCormick

Counsel for Respondents

Thomas R. Donahue, AFL-CIO COPE
Political Contributions Committee,
Walter Oliver and Michigan State AFL-~
CIO COPE Voluntary Fund

Richard M. Resnick

Counsel for Respondents

Joseph F. Maloney and the Political
Educational Fund of the Building and
Construction Trades Department

Enclosures
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Comnzinidtee on Political Educatzon

LANE KIRKLAND, Chelrmen THOMAS . DONAWUL, Secretary.Troasurer JONN PERKINS, Director

o:sto#ucvn¢:1.u.w1'* WASHINGTON, D.C. 20006 % (202) 637.5101

March 3, 1982

MEMORANDUM

TO: All State and Central Bodies, Directly Affiliated Unions and AFL-CIO
. Departments :

FROM: -John Perkins, Director

SUBJECT: Contributions to Candidates for Federal Office;
New "Limited Endorsement" Policy; Coalition Policy

~ As | am certain you remember, the Federal Election Commission informed us that in
several instances during the 1980 campaign year, the contributions of National COPE
combined with those of its affiliates exceeded the limitations on contributions to the federal
candidates. We, therefore, remind you that the limitation for a qualified. multicandidate
committee, including its affiliated committees, is $5,000.00 for each federal candidate per
election. Any contribution made by a department, state, central body, congressional or
directly affiliated union COPE is attributed, for limitation purposes, to National COPE.

In the instances where National COPE was cited for exceeding the limits, it was the
result of an affiliated committee making a contribution and National COPE not being aware.
of it. As you can well understand, it is impossible for National COPE to know in all cases

the amounts of contributions made by the departinent, state, central body, congressnonal or
directly affiliated union COPE funds.

It is, therefore, necessary that. you first clear with National COPE any contributions
you contemplate making to a federal candidate. Alternately, you can send us your voluntary
funds and we will draw the check here and send it to you for presentation.

Again I must stress, it is necessary to clear all your federal candidate contributions
with this office. Thank you for your consideration.

(To State and Local Councils: Please forward copy of this to Cong. District COPEs
where they exist.)

In addition, I want to call your attention to actions concerning two matters taken by
the COPE Administrative Committee and approved by the AFL-CIO Executive Council at.
the council's recent meeting. One permits COPE bodies to make "limited" endorsements of
candidates. The other clarifies federation policy on political coalition. Copies of both are
attached. Iplanto dnscuss these at the forthcoming AFL-CIO regional conferences.




AFL-CIO Political Committees

The Federal Election Campaign Act (FECA) provides that if a
Directly Affiliated Local Union (DALU), a state or local central hody
of the AFL-CIO, or a state or loeal body of a Department of the AFL-
Cl0, scts up a voluntary political contributions fund and makes contribu-
tions from that fund 1o a federal candidate, the fund is a “politics! com-
mitiee.”” As a political committce, each such fund is required to register
with the Fedcral Election Commission and to file comprchensive periodic
financial reports with the Commission. Mecting these requirements is
costly, both in the time it takes to meet the FEC's reporting requircments
and in the money paid to lawyers and accountants.

The FECA also provides that the political committces of DALUs and
of state and local bodies are “affiliated” with thc AFL-CIO Political
Contributions Committee (COPE-PCC). For the purposes of the FECA's
contributions limits, political committces that are “affiliated”™ arc treated
as a single committee. This means that contributions by a statc or local
political committee count toward the $5.000 per candidate per election
limit of the national committce with which the state or local committee
is affiliated. Conscquently, if the combined contributions of affiliated
committees to the same candidate for the same election total more than
$5,000, the national committec violates the Act.

Becausc of the burden and cxpense of maintaining and operating
fedcral political committees at the state and local levels, and because
expericnce has shown that there is a substantial risk that the contributions
rnade by such committecs may lead to violations of the contribution limits
of the FECA despite the best cfforts to avoid such inadvertent violations,
the AFL-CI1O Exccutive Council has concluded:

1. That no DALU, AFL-CIO state or local central body, or AFL-

CIO Department state or Jocal body, shall establish or maintain a
scparate scgregated fund that makes contributions to or expendi-
turcs on behalf of candidaies for federal office;

. That existing federal political commitices of thc DALUs and of
the state and local bodies of the AFL-CIO and of its Dcpartments
shall terminate their registration with the FEC and shall transfer
the voluntary funds in their accounts to AFL-CIO COPE-PCC or
to their rcspective AFL-CIO Department’s political committee;

. That henceforth all contributions 1o or expenditures on behalf of
federal candidates attributable to the AFL-CIO shall be made at
the national level; :

. That National AFL-CIO COPE shall work in closc cooperation
with the DALUs and the state and local bodies of the AFL-CIO
and of its Departments to assurc that those organizations will con-
tinue to play an active and visibic role in the making of contribu-
tions to and expenditures on behalf of federal candidates.
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